1960

# University Heights, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of The State of Utah : Brief of Petitioner and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

---

Petitioner, University Heights, Inc., was at all times pertinent hereto, a corporation owning and operating an apartment house in Salt Lake City, Utah.

Because of the net operating loss sustained by petitioner in 1956 and the small profits earned in 1957 and 1958 as indicated below, the corporation franchised tax liability to the State of Utah was computed as 1/20th

of one per cent of the “*Fair Value*” of the tangible property owned by petitioner in accordance with the provisions of Title 59, Chapter 13, Section 3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Petitioner determined the “*Fair Value*” of its assets for the years in question by multiplying the assessed value of said property, for property tax purposes, by two and one half since if the assessed value of said property were 40% of its value, the full value could thus be determined. In so doing petitioner relied upon Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 which states “that all taxable property must be assessed at forty per cent of its reasonable fair cash value.”

During December, 1959, the State Tax Commission audited the corporation franchise tax returns of petitioner for the years 1956, 1957 and 1958, and the Tax Commission assessed additional tax, shown below, against the petitioner as the result of its refusal to recognize the method used by petitioner in fixing the value of its property.

The Tax Commission determined the value of petitioner’s property by reference to the historical cost of said property less allowances for depreciation recorded on petitioner’s records, as reflected in the balance sheets shown on the tax returns filed by petitioner.

The following schedule details the gain or (loss) of petitioner for each of the years in question, the tax that was reported and paid by petitioner, and the tax assessed by the State Tax Commission for each year:

Year	Gain or (Loss)	Tax Paid	Tax Assessed
1956 .....	(\$3,178.23)	\$246.50	\$ 462.40
1957 .....	2,226.82	237.26	436.97
1958 .....	3,017.73	224.03	428.12
Totals .....	\$2,066.32	\$707.79	\$1,327.49

The sole question to be answered by this appeal is what is the correct basis for determining the value of the tangible property owned by petitioner during the years in question.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE HISTORICAL COST OF PETITIONER'S TAXABLE PROPERTY LESS ARBITRARY DEPRECIATION RECORDED ON PETITIONER'S BOOKS DOES NOT REPRESENT THE "FAIR VALUE" OF SAID ASSETS WITHIN THE MEANING OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 13, SECTION 3, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

### POINT II

THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 5, SECTION I, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, WHICH ATTEMPT TO QUALIFY THE CASH VALUE AT WHICH PROPERTY IS TO BE ASSESSED BY THE ADDITION OF THE WORDS "REASONABLE" AND "FAIR" ARE A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE XIII, SECTION 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

## POINT III

THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 5, SECTION 46, SUBSECTION (9) WHICH ATTEMPT TO REQUIRE THE STATE TAX COMMISSION TO ASSESS ALL PROPERTY "AT TRUE VALUE" IS A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE XIII, SECTION 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

## POINT IV

THE TERM "FAIR VALUE" USED IN THE UTAH CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX ACT HAS THE SAME MEANING FOR TAXATION PURPOSES AS THE TERMS "VALUE IN MONEY" USED IN THE CONSTITUTION; THE TERM "TRUE VALUE" AND THE TERM "REASONABLE FAIR CASH VALUE" USED IN THE CODE IN DEFINING THE MEASURE OF VALUE TO BE USED IN DETERMINING THE ASSESSED VALUE OF PROPERTY FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES.

## POINT V

STATE TAX COMMISSION IS REQUIRED BY LAW TO ASSESS ALL PROPERTY AT 40% OF ITS VALUE. TAX COMMISSION MUST FIRST DETERMINE FULL VALUE BEFORE THEY CAN ARRIVE AT 40% OF THE VALUE OF PROPERTY, AND ACCORDINGLY THE FULL VALUE IS  $2\frac{1}{2}$  TIMES THE ASSESSED VALUE.

## POINT VI

STATE TAX COMMISSION IS BOUND BY ITS DETERMINATION OF THE VALUE OF PROPERTY FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES AND IT CANNOT CLAIM THAT SAME PROPERTY HAS A VALUE 185% HIGHER FOR FRANCHISE TAX PURPOSES THAN FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES.

## POINT VII

THE FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION 184 BEFORE THE STATE TAX COMMISSION OF UTAH ARE CONTRARY TO THE LAW AND THE FACTS.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE HISTORICAL COST OF PETITIONER'S TAXABLE PROPERTY LESS ARBITRARY DEPRECIATION RECORDED ON PETITIONER'S BOOKS DOES NOT REPRESENT THE "FAIR VALUE" OF SAID ASSETS WITHIN THE MEANING OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 13, SECTION 3, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

In paragraph 4 of the findings of fact in decision 184 of the State Tax Commission of Utah, the Tax Commission states that it determined the value of petitioner's property for the years in issue "by reference to depreciated book values as shown by the balance sheets on returns filed by the taxpayer." (The petitioner herein.)

Chapter 59, Title 13, Section 3, of Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part as follows:

"Every bank or corporation . . . shall annually pay to the state a tax . . ., or one-twentieth of one per cent of the *fair value* during the next preceding taxable year of the tangible property in this state . . ." (Italics added.)

The only indication in the foregoing statute of the measure of value of the petitioner's property is that the

value shall be the "fair value." Nothing is stated in said statute about book value or depreciated value being the measure of value for purposes of this statute.

The United States Supreme Court repudiated the book value test as the measure of value in stating that present or future "value," however ascertained, was single in substance, being the money equivalent of the property as a whole which could not be arrived at by mere summation of actual or estimated cost of constituent elements, new or depreciated. (*M. E. Blatt Co. v. U. S.*, Ct. Cl., 59 S. Ct. 186, 190.)

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that "The word 'value' standing by itself can have only one meaning, viz. the full worth or actual value — not a fractional share thereof." (*Board of Education of Rich County School District v. Passey*, 122 Ut. 102, 246 P. 2d 1078.)

Reproduction cost less depreciation is more dependable method of fixing fair value than historical cost less depreciation. (*City of Richmond v. Henrico County*, 37 S.E. 2d 873, 883, 185 Va. 176.)

Determination of the value of property by reference to book value alone is unrealistic in that it fails to take into consideration such factors as the method and rate of depreciation used, the policy as to adding certain items to the assets or charging them to expense when purchased, the market conditions, the state of repair of the property, use to which property is employed, profit potential, obsolescence, demand for the property and other

such factors. Book value is only one of many factors to be considered in determining "fair value."

Modification of the term "value" by addition of the word "fair" does little to provide a guide as to value except to indicate that the value used shall not be unfair.

The term "fair value" used in the statute mentioned above is usually held to mean the same as "reasonable value," "actual value," "market value," and like terms, and is generally the figure fixed by sales in ordinary business transactions. See 16 Words and Phrases, permanent edition page 167 for cases which define the term "fair value."

There is no substantial difference in meaning between "fair value" and "full cash value." (*Sears Roebuck & Co. v. State Tax Comm.*, 136 A.2d 567, 570, 214 Md. 550.)

See further discussion under Point IV concerning the meaning of "fair value" and relationship between value of property as defined in property tax and corporation franchise tax laws.

## POINT II

THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 5, SECTION I, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, WHICH ATTEMPT TO QUALIFY THE CASH VALUE AT WHICH PROPERTY IS TO BE ASSESSED BY THE ADDITION OF THE WORDS "REASONABLE" AND "FAIR" ARE A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE XIII, SECTION 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

Article XIII, Section 3 of the Constitution of Utah provides in part as follows :

“The Legislature shall provide by law a uniform and equal rate of assessment and taxation on all tangible property in the State, according to its *value in money . . .*” (Italics added.)

From territorial days until 1957 the statutes required that all taxable property be assessed at its “full cash value.” (See 80-5-1, UCA, 1943.) In <sup>1962</sup>~~1957~~ this statute was amended to read that “All taxable property must be assessed at forty percent of its *reasonable fair cash value*. . . .” (Italics added.)

The Constitution of Utah clearly states that property shall be assessed and taxed according to its cash value. The addition of the words “reasonable” and “fair” to modify the value in money or cash value standard set by the Utah Constitution is unconstitutional and renders said statute void.

### POINT III

THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 59, CHAPTER 5, SECTION 46, SUBSECTION (9) WHICH ATTEMPT TO REQUIRE THE STATE TAX COMMISSION TO ASSESS ALL PROPERTY “AT TRUE VALUE” IS A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE XIII, SECTION 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

The provisions of Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 46, Subsection (9) pertaining to the general powers and duties of the State Tax Commission provides in part that property will be assessed :

“. . . to the end that all assessments of property be made relatively just and equal, *at true value*, and . . .” (*italics added*)

Clearly the use of the term “at true value” as used in this statute is contrary to the plain wording of the constitution, quoted in point II above, and accordingly said statute is void since the constitution requires that all property be assessed according to “its value in money.”

#### POINT IV

THE TERM “FAIR VALUE” USED IN THE UTAH CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX ACT HAS THE SAME MEANING FOR TAXATION PURPOSES AS THE TERMS “VALUE IN MONEY” USED IN THE CONSTITUTION; THE TERM “TRUE VALUE” AND THE TERM “REASONABLE FAIR CASH VALUE” USED IN THE CODE IN DEFINING THE MEASURE OF VALUE TO BE USED IN DETERMINING THE ASSESSED VALUE OF PROPERTY FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES.

Title 59, Chapter 13, Section 3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, imposes a franchise tax upon petitioner based upon the “fair value” of its assets. Petitioner arrived at the “fair value” of its assets by reference to the assessed value of its property. The sole question to be determined by this appeal is whether petitioner erred in so doing. The Utah Constitution, Article XIII, Section 3 provides that property shall be assessed “according to its value in money.” Chapter 59, Title 5, Section 1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides that property must be assessed at 40% of “its reasonable fair cash value,” and

Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 46(9), provides that property shall be assessed at “true value.”

Petitioner contends that the only correct method of valuation of property for proper tax purposes is its “value in money” as defined in the constitution, and that the other statutes which attempt to vary the method of valuation of property are unconstitutional and void.

If we concede, for purposes of argument, that the aforesaid terms used to define how property shall be valued for property tax purposes are accurate, then the question remains whether the term “fair value” used in the franchise tax act has substantially the same meaning as “value in money,” “reasonable fair cash value” and “true value,” used in the property tax act.

The definitions all use the word “value” qualified by various adjectives. In the case of *Board of Education of Rich County School District v. Passey*, supra, the court held that “The word ‘value’ standing by itself can have only one meaning viz. the full worth or actual value—not a fractional share thereof.” The court also cited with approval *Hansen v. City of Hoquiam*, 95 Wash. 132, 163 P. 391. The Utah Court used the terms “actual values,” “reasonable fair cash value,” “fair cash value,” and “full value” in said case interchangeably, in the following sentence, thus indicating that the meaning of each term is similar: “Where an assessor is directed by law to assess property at a percentage or fraction of its *fair cash value*, as is the case in this state, he must nevertheless first determine the *actual value* of the property

and then take a percentage or fractional share thereof as the “assessed valuation” for tax purposes. It would seem impossible for an assessor to determine what is a certain percentage or fractional share of the *actual value* of a piece of property without first determining what is the *full or actual value*. (Italics added.)

The term “fair value” used in the franchise tax act (supra) has been defined by many courts in just about the same manner as the various terms used in the afore-said constitutional and statutory provisions in the Utah Law. See 16 Words and Phrases, Perm. Ed., 167, for definitions of the phrase “fair value.”

In *Sears Roebuck & Co. v. State Tax Comm.*, supra, the court stated that there is no substantial difference in meaning between “fair value” and “full cash value.”

In *re Ouellette*, D.C. Me., 98 F. Supp. 941, 943 the court stated that “fair value” means such a price as a capable and intelligent business man could presently obtain for property from a ready and willing buyer accustomed to buying such property.

In *re Aranoff & Son*, D.C. Ga., 1 F. Supp. 708, 710 the court stated that “fair value” is value upon which willing purchaser and seller would likely agree.

In *Taylor v. Lubetich*, 97 P.2d 142, 144 Wash. 2d 6 court stated that “fair value” has meaning of “reasonable value.”

In *Kerr v. Clinchfield Coal Corp.*, 192 S.E. 741, 169

Va. 149 the court stated that "actual value," "market value," "fair value" and the like may be used as convertible terms and may mean practically the same under same circumstances.

In *National Folding Box Co. v. City of New Haven, Conn.*, 153 A.2d 420, 424 and *Town of Middlefield*, 120 A.2d 77, 80, 143 Conn. 100 the court stated that for tax purposes, the expressions "actual valuation," "actual value," "market value," "market price," and "fair value" are synonymous and usually mean the figure fixed by sales in the ordinary business transactions.

In the case of *Burke v. Fidelity Trust Co.*, 96 A.2d 254, 259, 202 Md. 178 the court stated that the terms "value," "fair value," and "fair cash value" are practically synonymous.

The wording of the Utah constitution, Article XIII, Section 3 is clear and unambiguous in stating that property shall be assessed and taxed according to its "value in money." 6 Words and Phrases Perm. Ed. 271 cites many cases wherein the term "cash value," which is the equivalent of the term "value in money" used in the constitution, is defined.

In *State v. Central Pac. Ry. Co.*, 10 Nev. 47, 48, 68, the court stated that the "cash value" of an article is measured by the amount of cash into which it can be converted.

In *Fort Worth & D. Ny. Ty. Co. v. Sugg*, Tex. Civ. App., 68 S.W. 2d. 570, 572 the court stated that the terms "market value," "fair market value," "cash market

value,” and “fair cash market value” are synonymous expressions.

In *Helin v. Grosse Point Tp.*, 45 N.W. 2d 338, 341, 432, 329 Mich. 396 the court stated that the words “cash value” as respects valuation of property for taxation purposes is the usual selling price that could be obtained at the time of the assessment but not the price that could be obtained at a forced or auction sale.

In *State v. Woodward*, 93 So. 826, 208 Ala. 31 the court construed a statute similar to the Utah Statute in issue, which in that case provided that taxable property be assessed at 60% of its “fair and reasonable value,” and the court held that this meant the best price obtainable at a voluntary sale, to be paid at once in money, and excluding any additional amount that might be had were credit or terms allowed; “value” meaning the fair and reasonable value determinable by what the property would bring at a voluntary sale; “cash” being the antonym of credit, meaning not merely money, but money in hand, readily available, paid down, especially coin or government or bank notes; “cash sale” being a sale for ready money, goods, or stocks, for immediate delivery and payment, as distinguished from a credit sale or for future delivery; “cash value” importing value in money presently paid.

In *Montesano Lumber & Mfg. Co. v. Portland Iron Works*, 186 P. 428, 432, 94 Or. 677 the court stated that “reasonable value,” or “fair cash value,” and “actual cash value” are practically synonymous terms, and mean

the fair or reasonable cash price for which the property can be sold on the market.

See also 44 Words & Phrases, Perm. Ed. 47 and 63, for definitions of "value," and 36 Words & Phrases, Perm. Ed., 407 for definitions of "reasonable value."

It appears conclusive, from the cases cited above and other cases too numerous to mention, that the term "fair value" used in the corporation franchise act (*supra*) has essentially the same meaning as the terms used in the property tax act (*supra*), and accordingly that if the tax assessor has assessed property in the manner that the law makes mandatory, the assessed value of property for property tax purposes was properly used by petitioner to determine the "fair value" of its property for franchise tax purposes.

#### POINT V

STATE TAX COMMISSION IS REQUIRED BY LAW TO ASSESS ALL PROPERTY AT 40% OF ITS VALUE. TAX COMMISSION MUST FIRST DETERMINE FULL VALUE BEFORE THEY CAN ARRIVE AT 40% OF THE VALUE OF PROPERTY, AND ACCORDINGLY THE FULL VALUE IS 2½ TIMES THE ASSESSED VALUE.

Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part as follows:

"RATE OF ASSESSMENT OF PROPERTY. — All taxable property must be assessed at forty percent of its reasonable fair cash value.  
..."

*In Board of Education of Rich County School Dis-*

*trict v. Passey*, supra, the Utah Supreme Court stated in part as follows:

“Where an assessor is directed by law to assess property at a percentage or fraction of its fair cash value, as is the case in this state, he must nevertheless first determine the actual value of the property and then take a percentage or fractional share thereof as the ‘assessed valuation’ for tax purposes. It would seem impossible for an assessor to determine what is a certain percentage or fractional share of the actual value of a piece of property without first determining what is the full or actual value. Thus the actual value is determined by the assessor in making his assessment even though the ‘assessed valuation’ upon which taxes are computed is less than the actual or full value, and from the last assessment the full ‘value of the taxable property’ could be ascertained as readily as the assessed valuation.”

The Utah Court also cited with approval the case of *Hansen v. City of Hoquiam*, supra, wherein the court staed in part as follows:

“So, that, when we have a statute which requires the assessing officers to assess property for taxation ‘not to exceed 50 per cent of its true and fair value in money’ and the assessing officer do in fact assess it at 50 per cent of its true value, then by a simple rule of arithmetic its real value is as certainly ascertained by the assessment as if it had actually been assessed at its real value.”

From the foregoing citations, and from the clear wording of the statute in question, the conclusion seems

inescapable that petitioner did not err when it multiplied the assessed valuation of its property, as determined by the tax assessor, by  $2\frac{1}{2}$  to convert the assessed value of 40% to 100% of the full value of the petitioner's property.

## POINT VI

STATE TAX COMMISSION IS BOUND BY ITS DETERMINATION OF THE VALUE OF PROPERTY FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES AND IT CANNOT CLAIM THAT SAME PROPERTY HAS A VALUE 185% HIGHER FOR FRANCHISE TAX PURPOSES THAN FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES.

Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, states that all “property *must* be assessed at forty percent of its reasonable fair cash value. . . .” (Italics added.)

The foregoing statute makes it mandatory that all property be assessed at 40% of its “reasonable fair cash value.”

Title 59, Chapter 5, Section 46(9), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, concerning the general powers and duties of the State Tax Commission provides in part as follows:

“To have and exercise general supervision over the administration of the tax laws of the state, over assessors and over county boards in the performance of their duties as county boards of equalization and over other county officers in the performance of their duties in connection with assessment of property and collection of taxes, to the end that all assessments of property be made relatively just and equal, at true value, and

that the tax burden may be distributed without favor of discrimination.”

The foregoing statute indicates that the State Tax Commission shall have the last word and direct control over the assessment of property and the collection of taxes in Utah. It must necessarily follow that the determination of the tax assessor of the valuation of petitioners property is the valuation of the State Tax Commission, and that the State Tax Commission should be bound thereby.

Petitioner is unable to discover any reasonable basis upon which the State Tax Commission can determine that the “fair value” of petitioner’s property for franchise tax purposes is 185% of its “value” for the same property for property tax purposes.

## POINT VII

THE FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION 184 BEFORE THE STATE TAX COMMISSION OF UTAH ARE CONTRARY TO THE LAW AND THE FACTS.

The law in this case has been heretofore argued. The facts have been stipulated by the parties to this action and are not in dispute. The position of the tax commission that the depreciated book values of petitioner’s property represent the “fair value” of said assets seems untenable in view of the cases cited above, and considers only one of many factors which must be considered to determine the value of petitioner’s property. In the case of *State ex rel. Public Service Commission et al. v. South-*

*ern Pac. Co. et al., (State Tax Commission et al., interveners)*, 95 Ut. 84, 79 P. 2d 25 the court stated:

“The tax assessor must, within legal limits, determine present market value and not what capital has been invested in the property.”

The court in the same case also stated that:

“The State Tax Commission by Constitution and Statute was required to assess tangible utility property at its ‘value in money’ for taxation purposes.”

The conclusion seems inescapable that the “fair value” or “full value” of property can be determined by multiplying the assessed valuation by  $2\frac{1}{2}$  to convert the 40% of value used as assessed value to 100% or full value, and that the petitioner did not err in so doing to compute the “fair value” of its assets for purposes of the corporation franchise tax.

## CONCLUSION

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