1960

University Heights, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of The State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TAX COMMISSION IS NOT BOUND BY A COUNTY ASSESSOR'S DETERMINATION OF VALUE OF PROPERTY FOR PROPERTY TAX PURPOSES, BUT MAY PROPERLY MAKE ITS

OWN DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE FOR PURPOSES OF THE FRANCHISE TAX.

The taxpayer contends that it is proper to use the assessed value of property for property tax purposes to determine the "fair value" of its property for franchise tax purposes. In this regard, petitioner contends that the Tax Commission is bound to accept the County Assessor's determination of "value" for purposes other than which it was intended. With this contention the Tax Commission must respectfully disagree. The Tax Commission is not bound to accept any valuation of the County Assessor. Section 59-5-47, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides that the Commission "may of its own initiative order or make an assessment or re-assessment of any property which it deems to have been over-assessed or under-assessed or which it finds has not been assessed." The County Assessor is not charged with the duty of determining the value of corporate franchises. The Tax Commission alone has the responsibility to determine the correct amount of tax due. See Section 59-13-26, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The Tax Commission alone is empowered to examine the taxpayer's records for the purpose of ascertaining the correctness of any return. Section 59-13-52, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. In fact, it would be intrepid for the Commission to adopt the petitioner's contentions and to do so would be unfair to the petitioner itself. The County Assessor by experience and profession is prepared to determine the value of property. However, as will more fully appear later, a tax upon the corporate franchise in Utah is not a property tax, but rather is a tax upon the

privilege of doing business within the state. This is true even though the tax be computed upon the property base. The Tax Commission maintains an experienced staff, the sole function of which is to determine the value of property for purposes of the franchise tax. It should be apparent that more accurate valuations may be obtained by such a staff than could be obtained by following determinations made by a County Assessor motivated by entirely different purposes. In fact, because of certain pronouncements by the Utah State Supreme Court, the Tax Commission could prudently assume no other course. In the case of *Utah-Idaho Sugar Co. v. Salt Lake County*, 60 Utah 491, 210 Pac. 106 (1932), Mr. Justice Thurman stated in a concurring opinion that a certain tax was an income tax and that taxation as a property tax was excluded “. . . by the provision of the State Constitution (Article 13, § 12) which reads as follows:

‘Nothing in this Constitution shall be construed to prevent the Legislature from providing a stamp tax, or a tax based on income, occupation, licenses or franchise.’ ”

That opinion continued:

“From the section just quoted nothing can be clearer than that the constitutional convention regarded a property tax as one thing and a tax based on income as another. The tax on property was provided for in the preceding sections of the article, while a tax based on income was provided for as a separate and distinct subject of taxation in the section quoted. (As is the franchise tax.) With this provision of the Constitution staring him in the face, what right or power had the assessor of Salt Lake County to assume that the

income or earnings from the management of physical property not reduced to tangible form could be assessed as property the same as physical property may be assessed?”

The court held that the franchise to be a corporation was not taxable property under the meaning of the Utah Constitution, Article 13, Section 2 and, therefore, could not be assessed in the same manner as tangible property.

In the case of *American Investment Corp. v. State Tax Comm. of Utah*, 101 Utah 189, 120 P. 2d 331 (1942), it was held that the tax imposed by a statute requiring corporations annually to pay the state for the privilege of exercising its corporate franchise or doing business in the state, based on its net income allocated to the state, was not a “property tax” nor an “organization tax” but a “tax on the privilege of exercising the corporate franchise,” or, in other words, on the privilege of doing business in the state. The court reiterated this doctrine in the case of *J. M. & M. S. Browning Co. v. State Tax Comm.*, 107 Utah 457, 153 P. 2d 993 (1945). The court said:

“The use of net income allocated to Utah as a measure for the amount of tax to be paid by a corporation for the privilege of doing business has a reasonable common sense basis. The more net income realized from doing business in Utah, the more valuable the privilege and the higher the tax.”

See also, *Emerald Oil Co. v. State Tax Comm.*, 1 Utah 2d 379, 267 P. 2d 772 (1954).

This position is in accord with that taken by the Supreme Court of the United States when it held in the case of *Atlantic and Pacific Tel. Co. v. Philadelphia, Pa.*, 190 U.S. 160, 23 S.Ct. 817, 47 L.Ed. 995 (1902), that a corporate franchise is valuable entirely apart from, or in addition to, the corporation's other property or assets.

Modern cases generally sustain this view. In the case of *Commonwealth v. Ford Motor Co.*, 350 Pa. 236, 38 A. 2d 329, App., dismissed 324 U.S. 827, 65 S. Ct. 857, 89 L.E. 1394, (1944), it was held that being an excise tax, the State may fix as a measure of the corporation franchise the value of the corporation's property, even property which would not ordinarily be amenable to property tax. And the California High Court has held that a franchise tax differs materially from a property tax, as levied for state and municipal purposes, in the basis prescribed for computing the amount of the tax. *American States Water Service Co. of California v. Johnson*, 31 Cal. App. 2d 606, 88 P. 2d 770 (1939).

It is apparent that whether the franchise tax is computed upon the basis of net income or the basis of tangible property that it cannot be considered a property tax. It should follow that an independent evaluation of property for franchise tax purposes should be made. To accept petitioner's contentions in this regard is to say that the County Assessor's determination should also be binding in other non-property tax areas, such as the determination of value for inheritance tax purposes. To rule accordingly is to completely disrupt established procedures.

It seems fairly evident from the Utah statutes alone that the legislature intended the valuation of corporate franchises to be placed on a different basis from the regular property tax assessment. The Utah Code Annotated, Section 59-5-46.1 provides that the State Tax Commission in cooperation with the various county assessors shall make an evaluation of all taxable property in the county at least once every five years. However, in regard to corporate franchise taxes, Section 59-13-3 provides in part:

“Every bank or corporation . . . for the privilege of exercising its corporate franchise or for the privilege of doing business in the state, shall annually pay to the state a tax equal to four per cent of its net income for the preceding taxable year computed and allocated to this state in a manner hereinafter provided, or 1/20th of one per cent of the fair value *during the next preceding taxable year* of its tangible property in this state, whichever is greater . . .” (Emphasis supplied)

Section 59-3-20(6)(f), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, provides:

“The value of a corporation’s tangible property for the purpose of this section shall be the *average value of such property during the taxable year*.” (Emphasis supplied)

It is evident from these statutory provisions that it was intended by the legislature that the value of a corporate franchise be determined more often than every five years, whereas tangible property need only be re-evaluated once every five years. It is also apparent that a fair and accurate picture of the value of a corporation franchise cannot be had by relying on an outmoded figure

reached by a County Assessor. Real property values tend to remain constant. The value of business property is a product of many factors and may fluctuate rapidly. The legislature was aware of this and provided valuation procedures accordingly. The Tax Commission should not be bound by the County Assessor's determination for non-property tax purposes.

POINT II

THE UTAH FRANCHISE TAX IS NOT A PROPERTY TAX AND THEREFORE IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT OF TAXATION ACCORDING TO VALUE.

Petitioner contends that a franchise tax imposed upon the "fair value" of its assets violates the Utah Constitution, Article 13, Section 3. It is contended that the addition of the word "fair" to modify the value in money or cash value standard set by the Utah Constitution is unconstitutional and renders the section void.

Assuming the validity of this argument for property tax purposes, it is submitted that petitioner fails to take into consideration the fact that there are several constitutional provisions relating to taxation which apply to property taxes but not to excise taxes. It is respondent's position that Article 13, Section 3, is such a provision. In Utah the franchise tax is an excise tax or a privilege tax and need not be based on the value of the franchise. Indeed, such a franchise tax is not subject to constitutional provisions regarding taxation according to cash

value. In Utah the franchise tax is imposed upon the privilege of doing business within the state. This proposition and the underlying principles concerned therewith is succinctly stated by Cooley in his work on Taxation, Volume II, Section 849, pg. 1714:

“Very often a tax would be unconstitutional and void if a ‘property’ tax while it would be constitutional and valid if in reality an excise. It is natural, therefore, in such cases, that corporations seek to have such taxes declared a property rather than an excise tax. If the tax is held to be an excise rather than a property tax, it is not subject to the constitutional requirement of equality and uniformity of taxation, or the requirement of taxation according to value.”

Section 850 of the same work provides:

“The constitutional provision that taxation shall be according to value applies to property taxes and not to excise taxes. It follows that if a tax on franchises is a property tax it must be based on the value of the franchise, while if the tax on franchises is an excise tax it need not be based on their value.”

The following also furnish support for the above proposition: *Phoenix Carpet Co. v. State*, 118 Ala. 143, 22 So. 627, 72 Am. St. Rep. 143 (1897); *Kaiser Land & Fruit Co. v. Curry*, 155 Cal. 638, 103 Pac. 341 (1909); *State v. Maine Cent. R. Co.*, 74 Me. 376 (1883); *State v. Western Union Tel. Co.*, 73 Me. 518 (1882); *Standard Underground Cable v. Attorney General*, 46 N.J. Eq. 270, 19 Atl. 733, 19 Am. St. Rep. 394 (1890); *Douglas Aircraft Co. v. Johnson*, 13 Cal. 2d 545, 90 P. 2d 572 (1939); *Jersey City v. Martin*,

126 N.J.L. 353, 19 Atl. 2d 40 (1941); Annotation 71 ALR 266.

As the standard of “value” for purposes of the franchise tax need not and cannot be the same as “value” for property tax purposes and as the constitutional provision that taxation shall be according to value does not apply to the franchise tax, it should follow that petitioner’s argument herein must fail. Indeed, this may well be the lesson of an early Utah case. In 1908 the Utah Constitution provided:

“All property in the state, not exempt under the laws of the United States, or under this constitution shall be taxed in proportion to its value, to be ascertained as provided by law. The word ‘property’ as used in this article, is hereby declared to include . . . franchises . . .”

In construing the then existing constitutional provision, the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Blackrock Copper Mining & Milling Co. v. Tingey*, 34 Utah 369, 98 Pac. 180, held that the constitutional provision did not apply to a license tax on the privilege of existing as a corporation as distinguished from a license tax on the franchise to carry on a particular business. *It had been contended that inasmuch as franchises were declared to be property by the Constitution that it included all corporate franchises, and therefore no franchise tax could be imposed except by valuation and assessment by the regular method.* (Emphasis supplied) The court said:

“We cannot agree with this contention. To our minds it is clear that the legislature did not in-

tend the license tax imposed by the act in question as a property tax notwithstanding that the constitution provides, in the section quoted from, that franchises are property. Nor did the framers of the constitution, in our opinion, intend to limit the right of the legislature to impose any other than a property tax by valuation upon franchises by what is said in Section 2, Article 13. If such had been the intention of the framers of that instrument, all that was necessary to say was said in Section 2 of that article. Why therefore specially refer to franchises again in Section 12 of the same article, and there expressly state that the legislature may impose a license tax upon franchises, if it was intended that no tax other than a direct valuation tax could be imposed upon corporate franchise? In our view these two provisions are not even conflicting, but if they were, it would be our duty to harmonize them and to give each one its proper effect so far as possible under the rules of construction.”

The present-day constitutional provisions have changed, but it would appear that the Utah Court has adopted the rules as stated by Cooley and as set forth in Point I, *supra*. If this is true, then the requirement that all property must be assessed at 40 per cent of its value does not apply to an assessment for franchise tax purposes. The legislature may fix a different rate for such purposes and has in fact done so by the enactment of Section 59-13-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. As corporate property is not subject to an assessment of 40 per cent for franchise tax purposes, it should follow that corporate franchise values cannot be determined by subjecting them to a faulty and illogical algebraical ratio based on pre-

determined property tax values. Value for corporation franchise tax purposes cannot be obtained by multiplying a property tax by two and one-half. It is, therefore, apparent that if the Utah franchise tax is not a “property” tax that the tax in itself is not subject to the requirement of taxation according to value and that the addition of the word “fair” as found in 59-13-3, Utah Code Annotated, cannot possibly constitute a violation of the Utah State Constitution.

CONCLUSION

If “value” for property tax purposes and “value” for purposes of the franchise tax need not be the same, it would appear that the various cases interpreting the meaning of “fair value,” “actual value,” “cash value,” etc., in different contexts, are meaningless in the present case. Therefore, assuming the general rules as stated are correct, it follows that because the Utah courts have determined that a franchise tax is not a property tax, it should also determine that the constitutional provisions as to taxation and assessment of real properties should not apply in this area.

The decision of the Tax Commission should be upheld.